Kristin Shutts^{a,*} and Charles W. Kalish^b

^aDepartment of Psychology, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI, United States

Contents

1.	Introduction	336
	1.1 Central components of intuitive sociology	337
	1.2 Individuals vs groups	339
	1.3 The rest of the chapter	339
2.	Childhood	340
	2.1 Social types	340
	2.2 Social value	346
	2.3 Social norms	351
3.	Infants	356
	3.1 Types	356
	3.2 Value	357
	3.3 Norms	359
	3.4 Summary	360
4.	From intuitive to reflective sociology	360
5.	Conclusions	363
Acknowledgments		364
References		365

Abstract

How do humans intuitively understand the structure of their society? How should psychologists study people's commonsense understanding of societal structure? The present chapter seeks to address both of these questions by describing the domain of "intuitive sociology." Drawing primarily from empirical research focused on how young children represent and reason about social groups, we propose that intuitive sociology consists of three core phenomena: social types (the identification of relevant groups and their attributes); social value (the worth of different groups); and social norms (shared expectations for how groups ought to be). After articulating each component of intuitive sociology, we end the chapter by considering both the emergence of intuitive sociology in infancy as well as transitions from intuitive to reflective representations of sociology later in life.

^bDepartment of Educational Psychology, University of Wisconsin–Madison, Madison, WI, United States

^{*}Corresponding author: e-mail address: kshutts@wisc.edu

1. Introduction

Psychologists often divide commonsense cognition into components corresponding to familiar academic disciplines. A great deal of commonsense cognition research has focused on the natural sciences, including intuitive biology (e.g., Carey, 1985; Hatano & Inagaki, 1984) and intuitive physics (e.g., McCloskey, 1983; Spelke, Breinlinger, Macomber, & Jacobson, 1992). Of course, psychologists have also spent time researching people's commonsense understanding of psychological phenomena—intuitive psychology (e.g., Heider, 1958; Wellman & Gelman, 1992). More recently, other social science fields have captured interest, especially sociology (e.g., Hirschfeld, 2013; Rhodes, 2012). Mirroring their academic disciplinary counterparts, it is often easier to define the phenomena of relevance to the intuitive natural sciences than it is to define the phenomena of relevance to the intuitive social sciences. Roughly, we can agree what intuitive physics and intuitive biology involve (Shtulman & Walker, 2020; Wellman & Gelman, 1992). Intuitive sociology^a is less intuitive this way.

For a field to come together there needs to be a focus on a core set of phenomena, and a sufficient empirical base over which to develop theories of those phenomena. Intuitive psychology came together as a topic of study with an agreement on the central phenomena. Theory of mind (Premack & Woodruff, 1978)—with its focus on how people represent, reason about, and act on mental states—defined a field and motivated a set of research programs (e.g., Baron-Cohen, 1995; Call & Tomasello, 2008; Gopnik & Meltzoff, 1994; Saxe & Kanwisher, 2003; Wellman, 1990; Wimmer & Perner, 1983). There were strong theoretical motivations for focusing on theory mind (drawing on philosophy of action; Dennett, 1978) as well as strong empirical foundations (research on perspective taking and metacognition; Flavell, 1985). Given the volume of studies referring to "intuitive sociology" (or "naïve sociology")^b, it seems we may have a substantial empirical base for defining a field. Is there a central set of phenomena

^a The discipline of sociology is principally concerned with understanding the structure of society, hence our (and others') adoption of the phrase "intuitive sociology." In using this term, we of course do not deny that psychologists—especially social psychologists—also study social structure, including group representations and processes.

b We will refer to commonsense sociology as "intuitive sociology" throughout this piece. By intuitive, we mean to capture thinking about social groups that comes naturally to those without formal training in the academic discipline of sociology. Other researchers have used "naïve sociology" (or, less commonly, "folk sociology," or "lay sociology") to refer to similar ideas.

underlying this base? We believe there is, or at least that we can begin to describe the beginnings of such a set.

As used in the literature, intuitive sociology is centrally concerned with social groups (Hirschfeld, 1999, 2001, 2013; Rhodes, 2012; Shutts, 2015). While intuitive psychology is about individuals, intuitive sociology is about classes or kinds of individuals. Intuitive psychology in its theory-of-mind form has a clear formulation for what counts as an individual: this is a theory of rational agents (Wellman, 1990). Intuitive sociology could be about groups of rational agents, but that characterization seems too broad. There are an infinite number of classes of rational agents, only some of which count as social groups. Foundational to intuitive sociology is distinguishing social groups from "mere" collections of individuals.

We propose that intuitive sociology consists of three inter-related sets of beliefs or representations of social groups: types (identification of relevant groups and their attributes), value (differential valuation of groups), and norms (shared expectations for how groups ought to be). In the remainder of this introduction, we characterize types, value, and norms, and explain why we take these to be central phenomena of intuitive sociology. We then review the empirical literature on the early origins and later developments of these phenomena. Throughout the piece, we will raise—and, when possible, address—questions of origin and specificity: Which aspects of intuitive sociology are innate and which are learned? What mechanisms underlie learning?

1.1 Central components of intuitive sociology

1.1.1 Social types

Intuitive sociology includes beliefs about the significant groups in society. People are able to: (1) identify social groups in their environments (e.g., jocks, nerds) and (2) form expectations about the features those groups (and their members) display (e.g., jocks are dumb but strong; nerds are smart but awkward). Of course, identifying categories and predicting features of category members are general features of category learning. Yet, in the realm of intuitive sociology, there are certain clusters that seem to function as more than the sum of their parts and that play foundational roles in guiding our social thinking. The classic example of a special social group is gender, which organizes myriad expectations about social life. Thus, a central question for psychological research on intuitive sociology is whether there are special mechanisms for ascribing significance to social groups. For example, what leads children to identify a social group as meaningful in the first place?

Basic associative learning is one mechanism, but there may be social-specific learning mechanisms (e.g., "coalitional computation" Kurzban, Tooby, & Cosmides, 2001). How does learning about social groups go beyond a faithful record (albeit with the possibility of skewed data from media or ideology)? Are there social-specific expectations and interpretations of observed associations?

1.1.2 Social value

Part of an individual's intuitive sociology is a system of valuation of groups—knowing which groups are good or bad, important or unimportant, privileged or stigmatized (e.g., jocks are the dominant, popular group in school and nerds are the low-status group). Where do such notions originate? It is likely that beliefs about a group's characteristics and the evaluation of that group will interact (e.g., that disfavored groups will be assumed to have more negative features and vice versa; see Nisbett & Wilson, 1977). However, value is distinct from learning social types; a group's value is not simply a summary of its features. For example, "stigma" is more than just a summary of the negative attributes associated with a social group (see Coleman, 1986). An account of the development of intuitive sociology should address the origins of this kind of valuation. Where does social value come from? When do children begin to attach different value to social groups?

1.1.3 Social norms

The third element of intuitive sociology is a set of prescriptive expectations about social groups. There are certain features that social groups (and their members) ought to possess, ways they should behave, and standards for how they interact with other groups. Nerds have no business running for class president; jocks should not be studying on a Saturday night. It is wrong, an error, for certain groups to behave in some ways, but right, appropriate, for other groups to behave in those same ways. These standards apply to the self and not just to others; at least to some degree, people are motivated to adhere to normative expectations for their group. Sociologists (e.g., Goffman, 1959; Mead, 1934) have emphasized the performative, role-like, character of social groups, but when and how do people come to see groups as prescriptions for proper behavior? Sociologists have also often argued for a sharp discontinuity between human and non-human conceptions of society (e.g., Durkheim, 1982). Norms for evaluating one's own and others' behavior are prime candidates for the source of this discontinuity. Are there uniquely human mechanisms underlying this aspect of intuitive sociology?

1.2 Individuals vs groups

A common thread running through each of the three components of intuitive sociology is the relation between individual and group. We take the subject matter of intuitive sociology to be kinds or classes of social actors. But, of course, people form beliefs about types of individuals (e.g., personality), ascribe differential value to individuals (e.g., friends), and enter into normative relationships with individuals (e.g., promises). It is an open empirical question whether these processes are the same or different for groups and for individuals. Is there a clear boundary between an intuitive psychology of individuals and an intuitive sociology of groups? What does seem clear is that negotiating between individuals and groups is part of the process of acquiring an intuitive sociology. Developing an intuitive sociology requires distinguishing information relevant to an individual (John is nice) from information relevant to a group (boys are nice). What are the mechanisms that lead people to form representations of groups rather than individuals?

A second aspect of this individual vs group dynamic is a distinction between idiosyncratic and shared representations. Each learner will have their own reactions to their unique social experiences. However, it is also critical that they acquire the common, shared, representations of social groups. While any one individual may have had overwhelmingly positive interactions with strangers, the conventional representation of "stranger danger" is part of people's intuitive sociology. As important as recording one's own actual experience, is recognizing the "standard," conventionalized, representations of social groups. Developmentally, this aspect of intuitive sociology points toward mechanisms of social learning (e.g., testimony, Harris, 2012) rather than individual learning (e.g., associative or statistical learning). How do children balance their own (direct) experience of social groups with established (communicated) beliefs?

1.3 The rest of the chapter

Having previewed what we see as the three key components of intuitive sociology, we next to turn the developmental literature relevant to each component. We begin our chapter by focusing on preschool and young school-age children. Academic sociologists take their subject matter to be social meanings, linguistic representations of social information. While we are not committed to defining the subject matter of intuitive sociology in this way, many of the key distinctions and constructs are at least much more

evident when you can talk to children about what they think. We then turn to the literature on infancy and consider what is known about precursors of intuitive sociology in childhood. Finally, we briefly consider research focused on adolescence and the development of more critical perspectives on social life. The very end of the chapter considers open question for future research on intuitive sociology.



2. Childhood

2.1 Social types

The average preschooler knows a lot about the structure of their social world. They know about some of the relevant social groups in their society (e.g., girls, Hindus) and what kinds of properties are associated with members of those groups (e.g., what girls and Hindus look like, what girls and Hindus know and care about, how girls and Hindus spend their time; e.g., Ellwood-Lowe, Berner, Dunham, & Srinivasan, 2019). Over their lifetime, they will of course come to know more about more social groups: Most 4-year-old children do not have a concept of "assistant professor," but most university students do. Rounding out social knowledge is a continuous process throughout the lifespan (see reviews of stereotype development: e.g., Martin & Ruble, 2010). The same process of acquiring more and more information about the world occurs for non-sociological content as well. In this review we will focus primarily on development of beliefs about foundational social types. What leads children to pick out some groups as significant in their social environment? How do children learn the important features those groups and their members display? The focus will be on prediction—what do we learn about someone by knowing their social group? Which groups are most informative?

2.1.1 Identifying social types

Basic principles of associative learning will lead children to identify clusters in the class of people they encounter. In the developmental literature such clusters are often characterized as "appearance-based," the idea being that young children depend on readily apparent features to form categories and detect category members (Keil & Batterman, 1984; Sloutsky, 2003). The classic example in the social category literature is young children thinking that anyone with long hair and a skirt is a girl (Kohlberg, 1966). These are *stereotypes* or sets of characteristic properties a young child could notice and associate with the term. Later, as children become more knowledgeable,

and less bound to immediate experience (Springer, 2001), they come to appreciate deeper features truly central to the category.

The question of when and how deeper features come to guide children's thinking remains somewhat of an open issue (e.g., the contrast between "theory-based" and "similarity-based" classification, Feeney & Wilburn, 2008; Gelman & Medin, 1993; Kalish & Thevenow-Harrison, 2014; Sloutsky, 2010; Smith, Jones, & Landau, 1996). We will address the question of whether basic perceptual and associative learning accounts for early social representations further in Section 3. We note here, however, that the general consensus is that although children are certainly capable of noticing perceptual clusters in their environment (e.g., that three people share the same skin color), such clusters are neither necessary nor sufficient for them to infer the presence of a rich social category (e.g., Baron, Dunham, Banaji, & Carey, 2014).

Perceptual similarity does not, directly, distinguish between meaningful and arbitrary groups. Social psychologists study this distinction in terms of "entitativity"—the idea that some collections of individuals seem groupier than others (Hamilton, Sherman, & Lickel, 1998; Lickel, Hamilton, & Sherman, 2001). A smaller body of literature has addressed children's entitativity judgments. Five-to-six-year-old children distinguish among various types of social collectives even without linguistic cues such as labels. Thus, people who are building a house together are judged to be more of a group than those waiting for trams together (Plötner, Over, Carpenter, & Tomasello, 2016). There is some evidence that the basis for entitativity judgments may shift over development, with children focusing on the level of interaction between group members and adults focusing on the importance members ascribe to the group (Svirydzenka, Sani, & Bennett, 2010). One other source of entitativity may be coalitional interactions, or patterns of cooperation and competition among people (e.g., Jordan, Brey, Kalish, & Shutts, 2015; Kurzban et al., 2001; Rhodes & Brickman, 2011). For example, Jordan et al. (2015) found that aligning perceptual features of individuals with cues to coalitions (e.g., showing children that people wearing red hats collaborate with another and compete with people wearing green hats) led children to use perceptual features to make group inferences. We address coalitional cognition in greater detail in Sections 2.3 and 3.

A central way that children learn about the groups in their environment is through language and communication. The most direct implication of learning about social categories through language is broadened exposure. Children can hear about many categories they many not ever encounter in person. More specifically, linguistic structures help pick out significant kinds via labeling. Young children are sensitive to the syntactic framing of a class: referring to someone as "a carrot-eater" vs "someone who eats carrots whenever they can" has important cognitive consequences (Gelman & Heyman, 1999). A label is a signal that a set of individuals is more than an accidental collection; there is a meaningful group about which there is likely more to learn (LaTourrette & Waxman, 2019; Waxman & Markow, 1995; see Lupyan, 2012). For example, Waxman has found that introducing an individual person with a label (e.g., "This one is a Wayshan") leads children to infer that other people who look like that target share properties in common with the target (Waxman, 2010). Further, Hirschfeld (1996) has argued that children learn about social categories primarily through communication (e.g., racial labels) rather than by observing clusters of correlated attributes.

2.1.2 Learning about the properties of social groups

Encountering social information in linguistic form changes not just the quantity, but the quality of that information as well. Social categories become distinct objects, not just collections of individuals. This point is most evident in work on generic language (Gelman & Roberts, 2017; Leslie, 2008). Generics are understood to be statements about categories themselves, as distinct from their instances. So, for example, "Doctors deliver babies" is a true statement about doctors even though most doctors do not deliver babies (and many babies are not be delivered by doctors). Generics represent knowledge about the category or kind rather than statistical expectations about associations (Brandone, Gelman, & Hedglen, 2015). There may be many attributes just as statistically associated with being a doctor as "deliver babies" (e.g., "own swimming pools") that are nonetheless not part of the category representation. Extra-statistical knowledge can involve beliefs about the conditions for membership or the centrality of features in various categories. Verbal toddler and preschool-age children distinguish between more and less necessary attributes: knowing about medicine is more important for being a doctor than is giving out lollipops, even though both might be equally associated (frequent) in children's experience (Kalish & Lawson, 2008). Errors in centrality judgments are often diagnostic of stereotypes. For example, thinking that women cannot be doctors is a mistake about the central attributes.

The representations involved in generic language and centrality judgments may be products of "psychological essentialism," the belief that there are deep causal properties determining category membership

(Gelman, 2005; see also Cimpian & Salomon, 2014). While psychological essentialism is a general orientation to categories, it seems particularly relevant to intuitive sociology. An essentialist view of social categories implies they are immutable and fixed at birth. Race and sex are classic essentialized categories. On an essentialist view, race is determined by the biological qualities of one's parents, and cannot be changed over the course of one's life. Young children may be disposed to essentialize social categories, extending this model beyond adults (of their culture). For example, young children seem to essentialize language: A baby will grow up speaking the language of its parents regardless of the environment (Hirschfeld & Gelman, 1997; see also Kinzler & Dautel, 2012). Figuring out the appropriate scope and limits of essentialism (matching one's cultural practices) is a protracted process—we should expect children to make "errors."

A second feature of essentialized categories is the expectation of inductive richness (Gelman, 2005). Categories indicate important similarities among members, and important differences across categories. The underlying essence produces characteristic properties. Members of the same category are expected to be alike in ways both known and unknown. This expectation underlies another feature of *stereotypes*: the tendency to generalize to a group from observations of an instance. If underlying essences produce attributes of category members, then observing an attribute of one member suggests it will be present in others sharing that essence. If one girl likes pink dresses, others will as well. However, expectations of inductive richness can also influence beliefs about underlying causes. If all girls are very similar to each other, there must be something that makes them that way. Causal structure and inductive richness are mutually reinforcing.

Although young children may be generally disposed to essentialize social types, they are sensitive to evidence in their environment. For example, children show stronger essentialism when their parents use more generic language (Rhodes, Leslie, & Tworek, 2012). Whether and how a category is labeled affects beliefs about its inductive significance (Gelman & Heyman, 1999): Children are more likely to *stereotype* and generalize a category used to organize their social environment. For example, hearing "First the girls line up, then the boys" seems to convey there is something generally important about this distinction that will be informative beyond line behavior (Bigler & Liben, 2007). The particular social context a child encounters will determine which groups are seen as important, inductively rich, and essentialized (e.g., race in the U.S., caste in India; Mahalingam, 2007). For example, parents' differential essentializing of ethnicity or religion predicts their

children's tendencies to use those categories as the bases for property inferences (Segall, Birnbaum, Deeb, & Diesendruck, 2015). The types of intuitive sociology have functional significance—indicating different roles, responsibilities, and expectations. In Section 2.3, we return to this idea and note that social functions may pick out a very different set of social types than those defined by intrinsic causes or essences.

2.1.3 Types and individuals

In addition to figuring out which groups are really important types, developing an intuitive sociology also requires distinguishing information about types from information about individuals. This is the "boundary" between intuitive sociology and intuitive psychology discussed earlier. Children are actively engaged in learning about the individuals in their environment, whether forming representations of unique personalities, or figuring out how specific situations influence specific behaviors. While this challenge holds for non-social content as well (e.g., learning about dogs or about Fido), individual humans are, arguably, more complex and interesting than individual non-humans. For social information, the individual is an attractive and plausible level of organization.

When encountering a new fact about an object, a learner must decide how that fact generalizes: is it true of just this individual (in this context) or for others of a like kind (and if so, which kind)? Young children are more likely to generalize properties from one individual to someone who shares a group label than to someone who shares features (e.g., shared preferences or appearance; Diesendruck & HaLevi, 2006). The way an individual is described will influence this generalization: referring to a person with a proper name implies the property may be unique while using a category label may promote generalization to other objects of the same kind (Riggs, Kalish, & Alibali, 2014). Children also use patterns of consistency and consensus to attribute features to groups or individuals (Riggs, 2019; see Kelley & Michela, 1980). Although language and statistical patterns may provide some guide, these will not be perfectly reliable. Preschoolage children seem particularly apt to generalize from one category member to another and may even expect more consistency between group members than in the same individual across time (Kalish, 2012; Lawson & Kalish, 2006). Somewhat older, school-age, children are more likely to see individuals as having distinctive and stable traits that can be used to predict their behavior (Rholes & Ruble, 1984; Ruble & Dweck, 1995). It is important to note that the shift from being more category-focused to being more

individual-focused may reflect culturally specific forms of socialization. For example, individualistic cultures encourage explanations in terms of unique personalities (Miller, 1997).

We may expect children to make many mistakes in generalizing social information. Another feature of *stereotypes* is that people ascribe to the group feature that are only observed (or true) for an individual. For example, some social categories are obligatory, automatically encoded (Kurzban et al., 2001; Weisman, Johnson, & Shutts, 2015). Thus, children may notice gender and use it as the basis for generalizing social information even in the absence of explicit labels. Seeing Joe, a blonde American boy, behave in a certain way may lead to the expectation that other boys will act the same way (rather than other blonde children, or just Joe). Whether or not social categories are particularly difficult and complex in this way is not really clear. However, generalization is certainly seen as more problematic for social than non-social categories. People rarely worry that their child has mistaken a feature of one chair as true for all chairs, or that they have mistaken a property of wooden things for a property of chairs. But this kind of error or confusion is central to socialization around social categories. Thus, there are many studies aimed at disabusing children of the notion that certain properties are true of all members of a category (e.g., "counterstereotyping"; Abad & Pruden, 2013; Gonzalez, Steele, & Baron, 2017; King, Scott, Renno, & Shutts, 2020; Lenton, Bruder, & Sedikides, 2009).

The challenge of attribution illustrates a second aspect of the individualgroup distinction in intuitive sociology: To what extent are children forming representations of their own experience vs acquiring conventional knowledge? Some of the failures or limitations of interventions designed to reduce prejudice and stereotyping (Aboud et al., 2012) can be understood in light of this distinction. A child might learn that individuals they have encountered have a particular property (e.g., these out-group members are nice). That specific experience is not, directly, incompatible with the general, shared stereotype (out-group members are mean; "subtyping"; Hewstone, 1994). This is another feature of generic language: The truth of a generic does not depend on its accuracy for specific instances (Leslie, 2008). Children are biased to attend to information that seems general and shared, rather than idiosyncratic and unique (Sabbagh & Henderson, 2007; Sabbagh & Shafman, 2009). Efforts to undo stereotypes may run against children's tendencies to learn the rule rather than the exceptions. Put another way, for a novice social learner it will be more productive to understand the general case (doctors do X...) and leave it to experts to worry about the details (...but my doctor does Y; see Kalish, 2012).

2.1.4 Summary

Young children's intuitive sociology contains beliefs about which groupings of individuals are important and meaningful—the types of people. Such beliefs are influenced by a number of factors including: perceptual salience, linguistic marking, essentialist intuitions, social utility, and inductive potential. Which social types end up as part of intuitive sociology will likely depend on the confluence of factors operating in a specific cultural/historical context. Some social types are over-determined, supported by almost all mechanisms of type generation (e.g., gender). Others social types are more contingent, or borderline. For example, some social groups may be linguistically marked, but not particularly salient or inductively rich (e.g., political party affiliations for young children). It is also very much an open question whether there are innate predispositions toward some social types. For example, are babies prewired to divide the world by gender, or are they born into a gendered world? We address the nature/nurture question further in Section 3.

A second major question remaining from this review is whether (or how) social types are distinct from non-social types. Non-social types also derive from direct and communicated experience, intuitions about causality and inductive richness, and practical utility. It is likely the differences are ones of degree rather than kind (e.g., essentialism may be more powerful for social content). One area of intuitive sociology that may be somewhat distinctive is the assessment of the types identified. Children learn about many types of things, but types of people are not just useful for prediction. The typologies of intuitive sociology are imbued with value: There are better and worse types.

2.2 Social value

From an early age, children are in the business of evaluating social groups (see Rhodes & Baron, 2019 and Skinner & Meltzoff, 2019, for recent reviews). Preschool-age girls prefer to play with girls over boys (Maccoby, 1998; Shutts, Roben, & Spelke, 2013); young English children believe English people have more positive qualities than American and German people do (Barrett, Wilson, & Lyons, 2003); and American children think dentists are more important than dental hygienists (Liben, Bigler, & Krogh, 2001). What causes children to think some groups are better or more important than others? Why is membership in some groups more desirable than membership in others?

Ascribing value to groups—including ranking some above others—is partly a natural extension of learning about properties and *stereotypes* (i.e., see previous section). To the extent that children value a particular property and believe members of a group have that property while members of another group lack it, they might value the former over the latter group. For example, children who learn (via direct observation or via testimony from another person) that members of one group are nice while members of another group are mean evaluate the former group more positively than the latter (Charlesworth, Kurdi, & Banaji, 2020; Kang & Inzlicht, 2012). This kind of relative evaluation based on attributes is perfectly general to non-social types as well: Candy is a better treat than broccoli; hamsters are better pets than biting flies. In the case of social groups, however, valuation often goes beyond responding to the properties of the individuals in those groups: There is the sense that some social types are better, more important, powerful, legitimate than others—and this sense is not purely a function of learning about groups' specific properties. What are the developmental origins of this kind of social evaluation?

2.2.1 Ingroup favoritism

One source of social value is the ingroup vs outgroup distinction. In general, people are disposed to think of groups they belong to more positively than those to which they do not belong (Brewer, 2017). Although children both like their ingroups and dislike outgroups, ingroup favoritism seems to appear earlier in development and be more fundamental to children's intergroup evaluations (Aboud, 2003; Cameron, Alvarez, Ruble, & Fuligni, 2001). Ingroup favoritism has roots in identity development and the construction of self-concept (Hogg, 2016; Reynolds, 2017). Although researchers originally thought children derived a positive evaluation of themselves from a positive evaluation of their ingroups, modern evidence suggests that the reverse pathway is more likely to be true—that is, children's positive views of themselves lead them to positively evaluate the groups to which they belong (see Dunham, 2018, for review and discussion).

The best evidence that evaluations of social groups are influenced by conceptions of self comes from studies conducted using the "minimal groups paradigm" (Tajfel, 1970). In the minimal groups paradigm (Dunham, 2018; Otten, 2016), participants are assigned to be members of a novel group on the spot (e.g., "you're in the blue group"). In the most "minimal" version of the paradigm, participants never meet or learn anything about the individuals in their group or any other groups. Multiple studies reveal that the

minimal groups paradigm engenders robust ingroup favoritism in children as young as 3 years of age (Dunham, 2018; Richter, Over, & Dunham, 2016): Children who are assigned to the blue group like the blue group better than the red and those assigned to the red group show the opposite pattern of preferences. Mere membership in a group gives that group high value even when the assignment of groups is completely arbitrary and even when children know the assignment is arbitrary (Yang & Dunham, 2019). Further, children's favoring of their minimal group over other groups is evident across multiple measures, not just on measures of their attitudes: Young children will provide members of their novel ingroup with more resources (Sparks, Schinkel, & Moore, 2017) and express more empathy toward novel ingroup members (Masten, Gillen-O'Neel, & Brown, 2010).

Thus, although children can certainly learn that one group is better than another group via processes that are general (e.g., evaluative conditioning; testimony), research on children's reactions in the minimal groups paradigm highlights an evaluative process that seems truly special to intuitive sociology: mere membership. Just belonging to a social group gives that group value—value that is not tied to knowledge of a group's properties. Indeed, children's mere membership in a group actually leads them to infer their group has positive properties (e.g., to think their group is smarter, nicer; Patterson & Bigler, 2006). Further, children's mere membership colors future learning about their group's properties: children will give their ingroup the benefit of the doubt in ambiguous situation (Dunham & Emory, 2014) and will also seek out positive stories about their ingroup (Over, Eggleston, Bell, & Dunham, 2018).

2.2.2 Status hierarchies

Ingroup favoritism provides a powerful answer to why children evaluate some groups more positively than others, but not all of children's differential evaluations of groups can be explained by appeal to ingroup favoritism. As acknowledged earlier, children sometimes favor groups to which they do not belong. Further, at times, children do not exhibit ingroup favoritism—rather, they favor groups that appear to have higher status in their society. A good example of children's sensitive to social groups' differential status comes from classic studies conducted by Clark and Clark in the middle of the 20th century. When the Clarks asked Black children in the U.S. to indicate which dolls—Black or White—were better, Black children often pointed to White dolls rather than Black dolls (their "ingroup"; Clark & Clark, 1947). A common interpretation of the Clarks' findings (as well more

recent, but similar, findings: see Dunham, Chen, & Banaji, 2013; Shutts, Kinzler, Katz, Tredoux, & Spelke, 2011) is that children's seemingly natural tendency to value their own group can be attenuated, or even eliminated, by children's beliefs about their groups' relative position in society (e.g., Rhodes & Baron, 2019; Shutts, 2015).

Some research indicates children can learn about groups' relative positions by simply observing links between groups and salient markers of status (e.g., by observing that members of their group tend have fewer or lower-quality resources than members of another group; see Horwitz, Shutts, & Olson, 2014). Here is another instance of a tension between individual experience and shared social representations. For members of stigmatized groups, there is a conflict between individual processes of self-conception ("my group is good") and messages about conventionalized meanings ("your group is bad"; Banaji, Baron, Dunham, & Olson, 2008; Newheiser, Dunham, Merrill, Hoosain, & Olson, 2014). Such conflict is a cost of stigma: Consistency of self- and shared-representations is a manifestation of privilege.

Research on children's social evaluations has tended to focus on outcomes such a liking, ascription of positive traits, and affiliation (e.g., wanting to be friends; thinking that other people in the same group want to be friends; Martin, Fabes, Evans, & Wyman, 1999; Shutts et al., 2013). Broadly, we can characterize these outcomes as social preferences. But there are other kinds of evaluations, other components of stigma and significance besides preferences. Social psychologists often distinguish three broad classes of motivation: affiliation, achievement, and power (McClelland, 1985; Schultheiss, 2008). While generally understood as motives for self-action, we can also use this typology to consider other forms of social evaluation.

Children are remarkably attuned to an array of cues to power in their environment. For example, children detect individual differences in wealth (resource amounts or resource quality), physical dominance (being larger and/or more physically powerful), decision-making power (getting one's way) and prestige (being admired for one's competence)—and they infer that those higher on each dimension are more likely be powerful or "in charge" (Enright, Alonso, Lee, & Olson, 2020). There is also some evidence that children distinguish among different types or manifestations of status, and further that children's perceptions and reactions to status change over development (Gülgoz & Gelman, 2017). For example, while young children generally prefer individuals who win conflicts, toddlers do not like individuals who win by force (Thomsen, Thomas, Sarnecka, Lukowski, &

Abrayam, 2018); yet, older children like individuals who win fights (Castelain, Bernard, Van der Henst, & Mercier, 2016).

In addition to detecting and representing differences in status between individuals, children also understand that groups can differ in status. Studies discussed earlier comparing levels of ingroup favoritism shown by children from lower vs higher-status racial groups make this point (e.g., Dunham et al., 2013; Shutts et al., 2011). However, research provides evidence that children think about status outside the domain of race and outside the context of affiliation preferences: By age 6, girls are less likely than boys to think that members of their gender ingroup are brilliant, and older children think that "masculine" professions are higher in status (Bian, Leslie, & Cimpian, 2017; Liben et al., 2001; see also Charafeddine et al., 2020). Young children also recognize that age is often correlated with status (e.g., that adults are more powerful, Laupa & Turiel, 1986) and appreciate that the status groups have depends on context (e.g., teachers have more authority than parents at school; Yau, Smetana, & Metzger, 2009).

Although young children are aware of status inequalities among social groups, it is less clear how children react to, or evaluate, such differences. Some research suggests they tend toward "system justification": Observed inequities must reflect some appropriate distinction (e.g., Hussak & Cimpian, 2015). Other work suggests young children apply moral principles of fairness and justice. Systematic inequality between groups is suspect (Rizzo & Killen, 2020). The issues are complex, with some kinds of status discriminations being seen as problematic and others acceptable. We suggest that evaluation of sociological constructs is a place where intuition is especially impacted by formal instruction and explicit ideology. How do people feel about status distinctions? Are social types really predictive? Are norms for proper behavior fair? We discuss this kind of reflective evaluation of intuitive sociological constructs in Section 4.

2.2.3 Summary

Children's intuitive sociology contains beliefs about which groups are better and more important than others. As in other domains, children can form evaluations of category members by attending to their own experiences or by listening to the testimony of others. However, a particularly robust and potentially special mechanism by which children come to evaluate social groups is via their own membership; just belonging to a group makes that group good. In addition to a tendency to favor their own group, children's evaluations of groups are guided by groups' relative social positions, though children do not always favor individuals or groups that are higher in social rank.

A clear conclusion is that social evaluations are not unidimensional—children appreciate distinct aspects of status and hierarchy. Powerful groups are not always the nicest, for example. The implications of status are further complicated by the observer's own social position. In sorting out these implications, it is important to distinguish judgments of status from judgments or expectations of appropriate behavior. People do not aspire to all forms of social status, and high status is not an infallible guide to social evaluations. For example, consider a doctor's office. The doctor has the highest status in terms of power. The nurse may have a higher status in terms of affiliation and warmth. The patient is largely subordinate. Yet, the patient should not act like the nurse or the doctor, nor would they aspire to. Social status is quite different than social appropriateness or correctness. In our final section we turn to this aspect of intuitive sociology: appreciation of social norms.

2.3 Social norms

Formal theories of sociology emphasize the distinctive focus of their field (e.g., Comte, 2009; Durkheim, 1938): Sociology is something other than the study of expectations about patterns of features (social types) and evaluative ratings (social value). Such expectations and ratings are too individual, too psychological, to constitute the subject matter of sociology. On this view, at least two things are missing from our characterization so far. The first is that sociological representations of social categories are shared: I may have my own ideas about what doctors are like and how important they are, but such expectations and evaluations are only sociological to the degree they are common knowledge. Sociological facts are widely shared understandings of social categories. A second characteristic of sociological facts is that they are reflected upon and influential precisely because they are shared. This aspect is emphasized in social role theories (e.g., Mead, 1934; Parsons, 1951). A social category structures people's thoughts and behavior not just as a summary of associations and preferences, but as a kind of standard. Thus, for example, people reflect on the accepted, shared, expectations of the "doctor" category when shaping their own behavior (doctors) or when interacting with others (e.g., patients and nurses). To capture this sense of social categories as shared standards for behavior, we will refer to "social norms." A social category provides a shared standard against which one's own and another's behavior can be assessed. People are motivated to follow such standards through mechanisms of internal and external norm enforcement. Understanding the prescriptive norms of one's society is a central part of intuitive sociology.

Formal accounts of sociology have always faced a developmental question: Social roles, facts, and "meanings" were understood to be distinctively human. To the extent sociologists thought about children (see Mead, 1934), there was also the question of how preverbal infants gain access to mature sociological conceptions. The clearest answer to both these phylogenetic and ontogenetic questions comes from the work of Tomasello (2020a, 2020b), who locates the origins of human sociality in capacities for engaging in interactions of shared intentionality. Around 18 months of age (though building on earlier capacities; see Gergely & Csibra, 2003 and Kalish, 2020), humans start to cooperate with each other in ways that require joint perspectives and shared goals. Although infants and non-humans can interact and even cooperate in the service of individual goals (I want to achieve X, so I will work with you to get there), toddlers cooperate in the service of shared goals (WE want to achieve X together). Such joint interactions lead naturally to concepts of roles (Tomasello, 2020c): In the service of our shared goal, I will do my part and you will do yours. These roles are shared standards. Each participant understands their own and the other's "part," is motivated to do what is expected of them, and will hold their partner accountable for doing theirs. On Tomasello's account, these cooperative interactions begin as local agreements between individual partners (Tomasello, 2020a). As children gain more experience with cooperative interactions, as they engage in a broader variety with a broader array of partners, they recognize the generality and stability of some of these goals and roles. For example, the cooperative interactions at school are not negotiated afresh each day, but are reliably structured by a set of social roles such as teacher and student.

2.3.1 Norms for social groups and their interactions

A significant body of research on the development of social cognition has focused on children's knowledge of scripts (Fivush, 1984; Lewis, 1989; Nelson, 1981). Scripts are representations of typical patterns of interaction in some context, for example the "doctor's office script." This work, and the term "script," has tended to focus on the sequential structuring of event memory. However, scripts also emphasize the inter-related nature of social categories. A script represents one role in the context of others: The doctor's office script encodes how doctors interact with patients, nurses, and so on. Scripts are often characterized almost as simple mnemonic devices, and contrasted with deeper explanatory knowledge (e.g., Carey, 1985). Indeed, although there is considerable evidence that young children represent typical

sequences of role interactions (e.g., bath time, school routines), there is less work on scripts as shared standards of normative expectations.

Children's representation of normative standards for social groups has been a major focus of work in the context of gender (Eccles, Jacobs, & Harold, 1990; Fagot & Leinbach, 1993; Ruble, Martin, & Berenbaum, 2007), where researchers have distinguished between descriptive stereotypes (what people of different gender typically do; see "social types," above) and prescriptive *stereotypes* (what people of different genders can or ought to do; Koenig, 2018; Signorella, Bigler, & Liben, 1993). Gender is a domain of active guidance and sanction: Both children and adults hold strong beliefs about what kinds of traits and behaviors are appropriate for males and females (Bauermeister, Connochie, Jadwin-Cakmak, & Meanley, 2017; Carter & McCloskey, 1984; Mayeza, 2018; Sullivan, Moss-Racusin, Lopez, & Williams, 2018). There is some evidence that negative evaluations of gender nonconformity increase from early to middle-childhood (Carter & McCloskey, 1984). There is also evidence that children view at least gender-linked preferences (e.g., for toys and games) as matters of personal choice outside the scope of regulation by authorities (Conry-Murray, Kim, & Turiel, 2020). It is likely children are acquiring nuanced judgments about just which aspects of gender are prescriptive (e.g., toy choice vs career choice) and what forms of sanction are acceptable (e.g., informal "disapproval" but not legislation by an authority).

Gender does not appear to be a special case. Young children recognize norms as central to many social categories. Doctors have an obligation to care for sick people; brothers are supposed to eat meals with their families (Kalish & Lawson, 2008). They are quick to associate norms even with novel social groups, and tend to expect norms to hold for all members of a given group (Kalish, 2012; Kalish & Lawson, 2008). Norms for social groups are an instance of conventional norms (Turiel, 1989): In contrast to moral principles, understood to be universal, conventional norms only apply to certain kinds of people. For example, Srinivasan and colleagues found that 9- to 15-year-old children in India recognized different norms governing the behavior of Muslims and Hindus, while also recognizing moral principles (avoiding harm) as applying equally to both groups (Srinivasan, Kaplan, & Dahl, 2018). Preschool-age children accept that the rules of a game apply to the group of players, but not members of other groups (Schmidt, Rakoczy, & Tomasello, 2012). Young children seem to be quick to assume that novel behaviors are norms applying to people in virtue of their social group or position (Roberts, Gelman, & Ho, 2017; Schmidt, Butler,

Heinz, & Tomasello, 2016). However, they are sensitive to distinctions between individual preferences and group norms (Riggs, 2020). In sum, the intuition that social groups are governed by normative standards seems to be an early emerging component of intuitive sociology.

2.3.2 Types of social roles

So far we have presented social roles as elaborations of the kinds of social configurations discussed earlier. Children identify groups and their properties (e.g., girls, mothers, doctors) and interpret (some of) those properties as normative expectations of group membership. However, a slightly different perspective is that intuitive sociology is characterized by classes of norms organized functionally or relationally (see Kaufmann & Clement, 2014) that there are certain basic forms of social interaction governed by characteristic norms. For example, people cooperate with each other or compete with each other. Cooperation and competition are basic forms of social interaction. Knowing how to cooperate and compete is part of intuitive sociology. Indeed, young children have robust intuitions about the "right" way to cooperate and compete. For example, one should preferentially help a fellow cooperator over a member of a competitor group; it is worse to harm a cooperator than a competitor (Rhodes & Chalik, 2013). Intuitions about loyalty, conformity, and support organize expectations for proper behavior toward in-group and out-group members (Rutland, Killen, & Abrams, 2010). The point is that intuitive sociology is less a matter of specific group identities, and more a matter of types of interactions (Kaufmann & Clement, 2014). On this perspective, intuitive sociology concerns not just whether you are a girl, a mother, or a doctor; but also whether you are competing or cooperating, leading or following, buying or selling.

Research on social identities has tended to focus on a core set: Race and gender primarily, but also kinship, age, occupation, nationality, and religion (at least to some degree). Although developmental psychologists have studied a number of relationships, they have not generally theorized about the set or organization of basic types. Attachment theory could be understood as characterizing the intuitive sociology of the caregiver/cared-for relationship (e.g., working models; Bretherton & Munholland, 2008). There is a large literature on the development of children's friendship relations (Dunn, 2004; Fink & Hughes, 2019). An emerging area of study addresses infants' and children's perception and understanding of dominance relations (see Section 2.2.2 above and Section 3 below). However, it is not clear how many distinct types relationship there are, or how they are organized.

Sociologists often refer to Nisbett's (1970) classic typology of social relations: exchange, competition, cooperation, conflict, and coercion. Parsons (Parsons & Bales, 1955) distinguished between "expressive" roles focused on nurturance and well-being, and "instrumental" roles focused on resource acquisition and problem-solving. Fiske (1991) has proposed a four-part organization of social interaction in his relational models theory: communal sharing, authority ranking, equity matching, and market pricing. There has been some work demonstrating the psychological significance of these four types (see Haslam, 2004; also Clark & Mills, 1979 on communal and exchange relationships). However, there is little consensus or theorizing in the developmental literature about the core competencies or organization for representations of social relationships.

One perspective that has been influential in the developmental literature is work on coalitional psychology (Kurzban et al., 2001; Pietraszewski & German, 2013), the hypothesis that humans have evolved cognitive mechanisms for representing and reasoning about social arrangements underlying collective action. People form complex and shifting alliances—teams, partnerships, clubs, etc. According to the coalitional psychology perspective, tracking those alliances, and individuals' participation in them, is really the purpose of social cognition. Thus, people seem particularly attuned to evidence about group membership as well as to defection or cheating (Cosmides & Tooby, 2005; Kurzban et al., 2001; Riggs & Kalish, 2016). Work on cooperation/competition norms (Rhodes & Chalik, 2013) and in-group/out-group expectations (Rutland et al., 2010) would fit within the general focus of coalitional psychology. Human communication is a critical kind of cooperative relationship, with its own demands and expectations (Harris, Koenig, Corriveau, & Jaswal, 2018; Tomasello, 2010). Coalitional psychology typically carries the connotation of specific innate cognitive mechanisms: It may be that certain components of intuitive sociology derive from something like a universal grammar of social relationships (Durkee, Lukaszewski, & Buss, 2019).

2.3.3 Summary

Children's intuitive sociology contains beliefs about how people in different groups should behave—including toward one another. Gender is a domain where children both experience and perpetuate normative expectations about how groups should act, but children recognize appreciate norms for other groups as well. Although developmental and social psychologists have tended to focus on characterizing normative expectations for specific

group identities (e.g., boys, adults), another perspective is that intuitive sociology is organized more functionally around expectations about the ways people are supposed to interact with each other in different contexts (e.g., cooperators, followers).

Thus far, we have implied that the norm is that one ought to favor studies of children when charactering intuitive sociology. However, children's intuitions about the social world appear to have their roots much earlier in life. The study of infants' apprehension of the social world—including their capacities to detect and learn about others' properties, evaluate others, and develop normative expectation for others' behavior—has grown significantly in recent year. We turn next to consider this body of work, before returning to consider later developments and transitions from intuitive to reflective representations of sociology.



3. Infants

3.1 Types

Infants are interested in other social beings from an early age. Young infants prefer to look at faces (and face-like stimuli) as well as displays of human biological motion (vs non-faces and non-biological motion, respectively; Farroni et al., 2005; Fox & McDaniel, 1982). Infants also discriminate individuals from one another, both in terms of their identifying features (e.g., this voice belongs to my mother and this other voice does not; DeCasper & Fifer, 1980) and in terms of their particular goals and actions on the world (e.g., person A's goal is the doll while person B's goal is the truck; Woodward, 1998). In summary, infants are clearly interested in, and skilled at perceiving and reasoning about, *individuals* from an early age.

Infants are also capable of recognizing that some individuals are more alike than others. Paralleling research designs used to demonstrate that infants categorize cats as different from dogs (Quinn, 2002), researchers have shown that infants are sensitive to the markers that older children and adults use to pick out social types (e.g., men vs women; Asian people vs White people; Anzures, Quinn, Pascalis, Slater, & Lee, 2010; Hock, Kangas, Zieber, & Bhatt, 2015; Quinn, Yahr, Kuhn, Slater, & Pascalis, 2002). Further, the way infants perceive and react to social group markers varies as a function of their social exposure (e.g., Bar-Haim, Ziv, Lamy, & Hodes, 2006). In addition to detecting visual markers of social group membership, infants are able to learn about the behavioral propensities of

individuals who are similar to one another. For example, infants know that women's voices tend to be higher in pitch (Richoz et al., 2017) and toddlers associate wearing ties with men (Poulin-Dubois, Serbin, Eichstedt, Sen, & Beissel, 2002).

None of the findings reviewed so far from the infant social categorization literature point to anything unique about how infants learn about social groups (vs animal kinds or artifact classes, for example). One way in which infants' learning about social groups could be special is that infants, because of their intense interest in people and their actions (see above), may learn more rapidly or easily about social groups vs other kinds of groupings in the world. To our knowledge, no one has tested this possibility. More pointedly, though, none of the capacities reviewed thus far invoke notions specific to sociological reasoning. Is there any evidence that infants learn about people using a sociological lens?

One special feature of social groups is that they can be identified—and even defined—by characteristics that are manifested only in terms of how individuals relate to one another (rather than by shared visual features or internal properties). Conversely, social groups can be good cues to how individuals are likely to relate to one another. New research provides initial evidence that infants are capable of thinking about social groups in these unique ways. For example, 8-month-old infants use synchronous motion (e.g., entities moving together, contingently) and spatial proximity (e.g., entities being close to another another) to infer the presence of a social group—and, correspondingly, they expect members of that group to behave in similar ways to one another (Powell & Spelke, 2013). Further, toddlers expect members of the same group to behave prosocially toward one another (Jin & Baillargeon, 2017) and use cooperation and competition as cues for forming social categories (Ferera, Baron, & Diesendruck, 2018).

3.2 Value

Infants certainly like and feel closer to some *individuals* than to others. For example, most infants will approach their mother over a stranger when given a choice (Corter, 1973). Additionally, laboratory studies reveal that infants develop and express preferences for individuals based on their actions—for example, favoring those who have behaved prosocially (Hamlin, Wynn, & Bloom, 2007) as well as those who mirror infants' own actions and choices (Mahajan & Wynn, 2012). But, do infants like and feel closer to *groups* of people?

Young infants gaze preferentially at faces that are similar to those they see in their environments. For example, presented with a White and a Black face, Ethiopian babies will look longer at the latter (Bar-Haim et al., 2006). Presented with a male and a female face, infants will look longer at the face that matches the gender of their primary caregiver (Quinn et al., 2002). However, as many have noted (Kinzler & Spelke, 2011; Rhodes & Baron, 2019; Shutts, 2015), preferential attention to a face does not provide clear evidence that infants like such people.

Kinzler, Dupoux, and Spelke (2007) have demonstrated that infants will preferentially reach toward objects offered by people who speak the language of their caregivers—and have argued that such effects demonstrate that infants prefer such people. We do not quibble with that interpretation, but our view is that such findings fall short of demonstrating that infants' choices are choices in favor of a social group. Certainly, older children and adults represent language as a social category and feel strong ties to their linguistic ingroup (see Kinzler, 2020 for review). But, infants' reaching behavior could be described as a preference to engage with people who share a particular feature with familiar people in their environment (e.g., I want to engage with this person because she sounds like what my grandmother and father sound like when they talk). In other words, infants' preferential engagement with individuals who possess certain features (e.g., speaking French) do not clearly demonstrate that infants evaluate social groups positively or negatively. That said, newer research focused on infants' expectations about how people from the same language group will behave toward one another (e.g., that two English speakers will embrace one another; Liberman, Woodward, & Kinzler, 2017) suggests that infants at least view use of the same language as a cue that people are socially connected to one another.

New research also shows that infants use a different sociological relationship—namely, status differences—to guide their evaluations of others. Building on research showing that infants detect and represent status relations (Mascaro & Csibra, 2012; Pun, Birch, & Baron, 2017; Thomsen, Frankenhuis, Ingold-Smith, & Carey, 2011), Thomas and Sarnecka (2019) recently investigated infants' interest in affiliating (via their reaching) with winners (high-status) vs yielders (low-status) in zero-sum conflicts. They found that 10-month-olds reached preferentially for puppets who yielded, while 16-month-old infants reached for winners. Thus, like older children (see previous section), infants (at least at older ages) prefer those who are high in status. To our knowledge, however, no studies have probed whether infants prefer *groups* that are higher in status.

3.3 Norms

As reviewed above, infants certainly have expectations about how individuals will behave—both as individuals in their own right as well as in relation to one another. Further, infants appreciate that people who share the same features (e.g., who move together, who have long hair) will engage in similar behaviors. They also prefer actors who display certain behaviors (e.g., prosocial vs antisocial, Hamlin et al., 2007). Whether these expectations and preferences also involve normative judgments remains unclear. There are clear precursors in infancy of social groups and social evaluations. What is the evidence for appreciation of social norms?

One relevant line of work explores the significance of imitation and conformity for infants' social judgments. As noted above, infants expect people who share behaviors to affiliate: Shared behavior is a cue to social groups (Powell & Spelke, 2013). Some work suggests that the kind of shared behavior matters. Shared arbitrary actions are more indicative of group membership than are actions with a clear instrumental purpose (Liberman, Kinzler, & Woodward, 2018). In such cases, the motivation to engage in shared behavior would seem to be conformity to the group, rather than achievement of some functional goal. Infants seem to prefer individuals who conform to the group (imitate, Powell & Spelke, 2018). But at the same time, there is evidence that infants prefer efficient to non-efficient actors (Colomer, Bas, & Sebastian-Galles, 2020). This raises the question of whether inefficient, but conforming, action would be preferred for group members (but not for others).

In childhood, some of the best evidence for appreciation of norms comes from reactions to violations, especially punishment or correcting (see Rakoczy, Warneken, & Tomasello, 2008). It is difficult to elicit punishment or correction from infants: Surprise and looking-time preferences are the classic responses to violations. Infants do seem to prefer (to look at) agents who act to enforce proper behavior. For example, they prefer agents who intervene to stop an aggressive interaction (Kanakogi et al., 2017). They may even show a specific preference for intervention on the part of those in positions of power or leadership (Stavans & Baillargeon, 2019). The one existing study we are aware of found that 16-month-old infants would reward those who shared fairly, but did not punish those who were unfair (Ziv, Whiteman, & Sommerville, 2021).

In truth, it is difficult to confidently ascribe normative significance to social groups given methods available for testing infants. Take, for example, the finding that infants expect that an individual from a larger group will win

a right-of-way competition over an individual from a smaller group (Pun, Birch, & Baron, 2016). What sort of reasoning underlies infants' longer looking (i.e., at displays where the individual from the smaller group wins)? For example, do infants look longer at such displays because they think it is wrong for the member of the smaller group not to yield? Because they have an abstract representation about how groups are supposed to be behave? Because they know how groups usually behave? Looking-time methods can reveal what infants find more interesting or surprising about the behavior of individuals or groups, but such methods do not—and perhaps cannot—distinguish, for example, descriptive vs prescriptive reasoning, judgments about what usually happens vs what ought to happen, and so on. A similar debate plays out in the comparative literature, where the question of whether non-humans understand norms depends largely on definitions of "norm" (see Andrews, 2009).

3.4 Summary

Infants are interested in other people right from the start. They represent people as individuals; they recognize that some individuals are more similar to others; and they can reason about how individuals relate to another in different ways (e.g., affiliation, dominance). Further, they are sensitive to some of the features that at least older children and adults take as indicating social groups. To the extent that understanding social groups involves appreciating social connections between individuals, infants show evidence of this critical aspect of intuitive sociology. Further, at any age, understanding social groups will involve some general learning capacities—which infants evidence in abundance. But, the study of infants' intuitive sociology is still in its infancy. More studies and methodological advances may provide clearer information about whether and how infants reason about social groups per se.

4. From intuitive to reflective sociology

Intuitive sociology consists of considerable knowledge about social groups and social actors. This knowledge can become quite elaborate over the course of development, but still remain intuitive. People come to recognize a large number of social groups and their properties. People develop nuanced preferences and rankings for groups. Finally, an intuitive sociology contains normative expectations about proper behavior—both standards for evaluation of members vis a vis groups they belong to (e.g., conformity) as

well as expectations about how members of different groups ought to interact (social roles). The fundamental conceptual elements are apparent early in childhood. Later development consists of elaboration: learning about more groups and more details about those groups.

Beyond simple elaboration, however, sociological knowledge can become enriched in ways that push the boundaries between intuitive and more formal conceptions. Clearly, people can go to school and learn "Scientific" Sociology (in the same way they can study Biology or Psychology). However, intuitions may be transformed by cultural forces other than science and schooling. It is not clear where intuition leaves off and ideology begins, but there seem to be two markers. The first is cultural and historical specificity: Arguably ideas about "types" of people, rankings of those types, and normative standards for social behavior are human universals. If people's thinking about sociology contains more unique elements, then it is no longer intuitive. For example, intuitive representations may be enriched and transformed by legal, religious, or scientific (e.g., neuroscience) influences. A stronger marker, though, is the attitude toward one's knowledge. Intuitive sociology is commonsense: It is unquestioned, automatic, and obvious; there is little explanatory content: what but not how or why (Rozenblit & Keil, 2002). Non-intuitive beliefs are more reflective (see Dienes & Perner, 1999; Sperber, 1997); they involve justification and skepticism (or at least uncertainty), and admit explanation. Just these kinds of beliefs have been a central focus not just in scientific sociology, but also in work on adolescent development. Researchers have asked how people can go beyond intuition to develop a critical consciousness about society (Diemer, Rapa, Voight, & McWhirter, 2016).

One way intuitive sociology becomes enriched is with an understanding of institutions and systems. Although young children recognize types of people, ascribe value to these types and evaluate behaviors against expectations for types, they tend to have a very individualistic understanding of social mechanisms (Emler & Dickinson, 1985; Furnham & Stacey, 1991). People's social identities and positions may be inherent (e.g., biological) or acquired through behavior (e.g., hard work), but they are still individual. The idea of systematic or structural forces seems to be a later emergence. Part of this development is coming to understand institutions and the idea that institutions may have interests and agency apart from their individual members (see Noyes, Keil, & Dunham, 2020). An eight-year-old may know what a bank is, but will not really understand the function of the institution. They know how people behave in a bank, but not why. For example, the bank teller may be seen as generous for giving out money. The idea that the

teller serves some institutional interest is opaque. The psychological mechanism of intentional action is the most readily available source of explanation for social behavior, especially for young children. Educators struggle to teach students to think about complex interactions between structural forces in society (Montanero & Lucero, 2011; Samuelsson & Wendell, 2017). It is important to note that most of the research demonstrating an individual-to-structural shift in thinking has been conducted in Western, individualistic cultures. We should expect elaborations on intuitive sociology to be even more culturally and historically conditioned than core elements.

A common theme in research on sociological conceptions in adolescence, and even into adulthood, is that people tend to explain social behavior and social structure in personal terms. For example, income inequality is due to some people having skills and others lacking. Structural attributions for social phenomena (e.g., racial inequality) increase from earlier to later adolescence (Bañales et al., 2020; Flanagan et al., 2014; Seider et al., 2019) and are associated with more egalitarian preferences for resource distribution (Kornbluh, Pykett, & Flanagan, 2019). While structural thinking is not completely absent in early childhood, this perspective is more characteristic of older children and adults (Vasilyeva, Gopnik, & Lombrozo, 2018). Of course, attributions to social structure vary by social position, culture, and experience (Flanagan et al., 2003; Seider et al., 2019). However, at least in populations most studied, the tendency to favor personalistic over structural explanations is not limited to early childhood. For example, children are especially likely to understand prisons and the criminal justice system in terms of individual decisions. However, adults also tend reason that some people just do bad things and need to be punished (Dunlea & Heiphetz, 2020). Structural explanations, of disadvantage, of economic power, of racism, are non-intuitive. A functionalist perspective seems a distinct conceptual achievement—society is no longer made up of groups of individuals, but rather impersonal forces that operate independently of (and even determine) people's beliefs and attitudes.

The focus on psychological vs structural accounts of social phenomenon is particularly important because of its implications for blame and justification. The general idea is that if social position is determined by an individual's preferences and attitudes, then it is justified. Poor people are poor because they lack drive and talent. Research does suggest that a naïve perspective on society involves just this kind of "system justification" (Hussak & Cimpian, 2015). Structural explanations admit more critical perspectives: Society is not necessarily fair, people may not deserve what they get.

A considerable amount of research has focused on understanding, and fostering development of, a critical consciousness about society (Diemer et al., 2016). Critical consciousness that social arrangements are somewhat arbitrary, historically conditioned, and alterable contrasts with the general structure of intuitive beliefs (natural, objective, and neutral). Rather than taking intuitive sociological perspectives as explicitly naturalizing, it is probably best to characterize them as agnostic. An intuitive sociology does not include beliefs about the justification or legitimacy of social arrangements. Knowing what social groups exist, how they are valued, and how they ought to interact is intuitive. Knowing why such groups exist, and whether such social arrangements are justified, is not intuitive and requires explicit education and intervention.

5. Conclusions

Here we have worked to characterize humans' commonsense understanding of social groups, focusing on three key components: types, value, and norms. Although there has been enough research to date to merit a chapter on intuitive sociology, it is also the case that we, as a field, have a great deal to learn about how humans understand diverse social groups. Of particular use would be additional research with infants as well as research with children living in different kinds of societies. Such work can shed light on which aspects of intuitive sociology are fundamental to our thinking about social groups and which are the result of learning the particularities of one's social world. In this context, it is also worth mentioning that much of what we know about children's (and adults') thinking about social groups comes from studies focused on a rather limited set of groups—often, race, gender, and age ("the big three"; see Kinzler, Shutts, & Correll, 2010). Broadening our consideration of other kinds of groups would enrich our understanding of principles and mechanisms underlying our intuitive sociology.

The three components of intuitive sociology that we have identified map on, not uncoincidentally, but also not perfectly, to three concepts that will be more familiar to most readers—namely, *stereotypes*, prejudice, and discrimination. For this chapter, we chose types, value, and norms over *stereotypes*, prejudice, and discrimination because the latter terms are subject to colloquial notions that fail to fully capture what is encompassed by each component; further, the more familiar terms tend to be reserved for thinking and behavior with pointedly negative outcomes. Nevertheless, it is worth

recognizing that although our intuitive sociology is critical for helping us navigate the social world from an early age, our natural tendencies to represent social types, ascribe value, and appreciate standards can sometimes lead us to engage in thoughts and behaviors that harm individuals—for example, to exclude someone from our social circles or to assume someone would not be the right fit for a job in our institution. This realization can go some distance in explaining why it has proven difficult to overturn our social group biases at any age (Scott, Shutts, & Devine, 2020), and why doing so takes considerable knowledge, effort, skill, and practice (Devine, Forscher, Austin, & Cox, 2012).

The literature on intuitive sociology is vast. Children's understanding of their social environment is recognized both as an important research area in its own right, and as a component of developmental mechanisms involved in social learning. In organizing this literature, our review (briefly) addressed classic issues of domain specificity, human uniqueness, and innateness. However, we take the central contribution to be the division between social types, value, and norms. Our review attempted to highlight relatively distinct developmental processes in each area (e.g., category learning, self-conception, joint intentionality). One direction for future research is to study the interactions between types, value, and norms. For example, is it the case that the most essentialized social groups are also the ones assigned the most significant social value (whether positive or negative)? Can interventions in one area affect the others? Would adopting more egalitarian norms minimize perceptions of group distinctiveness and value? This review also illustrated the different kinds of social groups studied in the literatures. Work on social types tends to take stable social identities such as race or gender as models. In- and out-groups are central to work understanding social value. Functional groups (professions or relational roles) lend themselves most naturally to analysis in terms of social norms. We started the review with the problem that the domain of intuitive sociology may not be as neatly specified as the domains of other intuitive theories. That complexity is likely a reflection of the central importance of social conceptions in children's lives.

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to thank Yarrow Dunham, Lindsey Powell, and Marjorie Rhodes for their helpful feedback on a previous version of this chapter.

References

Abad, C., & Pruden, S. M. (2013). Do storybooks really break children's gender stereotypes? *Frontiers in Psychology*, 4, 986.

- Aboud, F. E. (2003). The formation of in-group favoritism and out-group prejudice in young children: Are they distinct attitudes? *Developmental Psychology*, 39(1), 48–60.
- Aboud, F., Tredoux, C., Tropp, L. R., Brown, C. S., Niens, U., & Noor, N. M. (2012). Interventions to reduce prejudice and enhance inclusion and respect for ethnic differences in early childhood: A systematic review. *Developmental Review*, 32(4), 307–336.
- Andrews, K. (2009). Understanding norms without a theory of mind. *Inquiry*, 52(5), 433–448.
- Anzures, G., Quinn, P. C., Pascalis, O., Slater, A. M., & Lee, K. (2010). Categorization, categorical perception, and asymmetry in infants' representation of face race. *Developmental Science*, 13(4), 553–564.
- Banaji, M. R., Baron, A. S., Dunham, Y., & Olson, K. (2008). The development of intergroup social cognition: Early emergence, implicit nature, and sensitivity to group status. In S. R. Levy, & M. Killen (Eds.), *Intergroup attitudes and relations in childhood through adulthood* (pp. 87–102). Oxford University Press.
- Bañales, J., Marchand, A. D., Skinner, O. D., Anyiwo, N., Rowley, S. J., & Kurtz-Costes, B. (2020). Black adolescents' critical reflection development: Parents' racial socialization and attributions about race achievement gaps. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 30(2), 403–417.
- Bar-Haim, Y., Ziv, T., Lamy, D., & Hodes, R. M. (2006). Nature and nurture in own-race face processing. *Psychological Science*, 17(2), 159–163.
- Baron, A. S., Dunham, Y., Banaji, M., & Carey, S. (2014). Constraints on the acquisition of social category concepts. *Journal of Cognition and Development*, 15(2), 238–268.
- Baron-Cohen, S. (1995). Learning, development, and conceptual change. In *Mindblindness:* An essay on autism and theory of mind The MIT Press.
- Barrett, M., Wilson, H., & Lyons, E. (2003). The development of national in-group bias: English children's attributions of characteristics to English, American and German people. *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 21(2), 193–220.
- Bauermeister, J. A., Connochie, D., Jadwin-Cakmak, L., & Meanley, S. (2017). Gender policing during childhood and the psychological well-being of young adult sexual minority men in the United States. *American Journal of Men's Health*, 11(3), 693–701.
- Bian, L., Leslie, S. J., & Cimpian, A. (2017). Gender stereotypes about intellectual ability emerge early and influence children's interests. *Science*, 355(6323), 389–391.
- Bigler, R. S., & Liben, L. S. (2007). Developmental intergroup theory: Explaining and reducing children's social stereotyping and prejudice. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 16(3), 162–166.
- Brandone, A. C., Gelman, S. A., & Hedglen, J. (2015). Children's developing intuitions about the truth conditions and implications of novel generics versus quantified statements. *Cognitive Science*, 39(4), 711–738.
- Bretherton, I., & Munholland, K. A. (2008). Internal working models in attachment relationships: Elaborating a central construct in attachment theory. In J. Cassidy, & P. R. Shaver (Eds.), *Handbook of attachment: Theory, research, and clinical applications* (pp. 102–127). The Guilford Press.
- Brewer, M. B. (2017). Intergroup discrimination: Ingroup love or outgroup hate? In C. G. Sibley, & F. K. Barlow (Eds.), *The Cambridge handbook of the psychology of prejudice* (pp. 90–110). Cambridge University Press.
- Call, J., & Tomasello, M. (2008). Does the chimpanzee have a theory of mind? 30 years later. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 12(5), 187–192.

- Cameron, J. A., Alvarez, J. M., Ruble, D. N., & Fuligni, A. J. (2001). Children's lay theories about in-groups and out-groups: Reconceptualizing research on prejudice. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 5(2), 118–128.
- Carey, S. (1985). Conceptual change in childhood. The MIT Press.
- Carter, D. B., & McCloskey, L. A. (1984). Peers and the maintenance of sex-typed behavior: The development of children's conceptions of cross-gender behavior in their peers. *Social Cognition*, 2(4), 294–314.
- Castelain, T., Bernard, S., Van der Henst, J.-B., & Mercier, H. (2016). The influence of power and reason on young Maya children's endorsement of testimony. *Developmental Science*, 19(6), 957–966.
- Charafeddine, R., Zambrana, I. M., Triniol, B., Mercier, H., Clément, F., Kaufmann, L., et al. (2020). How preschoolers associate power with gender in male-female interactions: A cross-cultural investigation. *Sex Roles: A Journal of Research*, 83(7–8), 453–473.
- Charlesworth, T. E. S., Kurdi, B., & Banaji, M. R. (2020). Children's implicit attitude acquisition: Evaluative statements succeed, repeated pairings fail. *Developmental Science*, 23(3), e12911.
- Cimpian, A., & Salomon, E. (2014). The inherence heuristic: An intuitive means of making sense of the world, and a potential precursor to psychological essentialism. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 37(5), 461–480.
- Clark, K. B., & Clark, M. P. (1947). Racial identification and preference in Negro children. In T. M. Newcomb, & E. L. Harley (Eds.), *Readings in social psychology* (pp. 169–178). New York: Holt.
- Clark, M. S., & Mills, J. (1979). Interpersonal attraction in exchange and communal relationships. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 37(1), 12–24.
- Coleman, L. M. (1986). Stigma. In S. C. Ainlay, G. Becker, & L. M. Coleman (Eds.), *The dilemma of difference. Perspectives in social psychology (A series of texts and monographs)* (pp. 211–232). Boston, MA: Springer.
- Colomer, M., Bas, J., & Sebastian-Galles, N. (2020). Efficiency as a principle for social preferences in infancy. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 194, 104823.
- Comte, A. (2009). A general view of positivism. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (Original work published 1865).
- Conry-Murray, C., Kim, J. M., & Turiel, E. (2020). Culture and children's reasoning about preferences and gender norms. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 196, 104861.
- Corter, C. M. (1973). A comparison of the mother's and a stranger's control over the behavior of infants. *Child Development*, 44(4), 705–713.
- Cosmides, L., & Tooby, J. (2005). Neurocognitive adaptations designed for social exchange. In D. M. Buss (Ed.), *Handbook of evolutionary psychology* (pp. 584–627). Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.
- DeCasper, A. J., & Fifer, W. P. (1980). Of human bonding: Newborns prefer their mothers' voices. *Science*, 208(4448), 1174–1176.
- Dennett, D. C. (1978). Beliefs about beliefs. Behavioral and Brain Sciences, 1(4), 568-570.
- Devine, P. G., Forscher, P. S., Austin, A. J., & Cox, W. T. L. (2012). Long-term reduction in implicit racial bias: A prejudice habit-breaking intervention. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 48(6), 1268–1278.
- Diemer, M. A., Rapa, L. J., Voight, A. M., & McWhirter, E. H. (2016). Critical consciousness: A developmental approach to addressing marginalization and oppression. *Child Development Perspectives*, 10(4), 216–221.
- Dienes, Z., & Perner, J. (1999). A theory of implicit and explicit knowledge. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 22(5), 735–808.
- Diesendruck, G., & HaLevi, H. (2006). The role of language, appearance, and culture in children's social category-based induction. *Child Development*, 77(3), 539–553.
- Dunham, Y. (2018). Mere membership. Trends in Cognitive Sciences, 22(9), 780-793.

Dunham, Y., Chen, E. E., & Banaji, M. R. (2013). Two signatures of implicit intergroup attitudes: Developmental invariance and early enculturation. *Psychological Science*, 24(6), 860–868.

- Dunham, Y., & Emory, J. (2014). Of affect and ambiguity: The emergence of preference for arbitrary ingroups. *Journal of Social Issues*, 70(1), 81–98.
- Dunlea, J. P., & Heiphetz, L. (2020). Children's and adults' understanding of punishment and the criminal justice system. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 87, 103913.
- Dunn, J. (2004). Understanding children's worlds. In *Children's friendships: The beginnings of intimacy* Blackwell Publishing.
- Durkee, P. K., Lukaszewski, A. W., & Buss, D. M. (2019). Pride and shame: Key components of a culturally universal status management system. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 40(5), 470–478.
- Durkheim, E. (1938). *The rules of sociological method* (8th ed.). Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Durkheim, E. (1982). In S. Lukes (Ed.), *The rules of sociological method and selected texts on sociology and its method*. New York: Free Press. W. D. Halls, Trans. (Original work published 1895).
- Eccles, J. S., Jacobs, J. E., & Harold, R. D. (1990). Gender role stereotypes, expectancy effects, and parents' socialization of gender differences. *Journal of Social Issues*, 46(2), 183–201
- Ellwood-Lowe, M. E., Berner, C., Dunham, Y., & Srinivasan, M. (2019). Indian = Hindu? The development of nationalist attitudes in Hindu and Muslim Indian children. *Child Development*, 91(1), 1375–1394.
- Emler, N., & Dickinson, J. (1985). Children's representation of economic inequalities: The effects of social class. *British Journal of Developmental Psychology*, *3*(2), 191–198.
- Enright, A. E., Alonso, D. J., Lee, B. M., & Olson, K. R. (2020). Children's understanding and use of four dimensions of social status. *Journal of Cognition and Development*, 21(4), 573–602.
- Fagot, B. I., & Leinbach, M. D. (1993). Gender-role development in young children: From discrimination to labeling. *Developmental Review*, 13(2), 205–224.
- Farroni, T., Johnson, M. H., Menon, E., Zulian, L., Faraguna, D., & Csibra, G. (2005). Newborns' preference for face-relevant stimuli: Effects of contrast polarity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 102(47), 17245–17250.
- Feeney, A., & Wilburn, C. (2008). Deciding between theories of how reasoning develops is hard. *Cognition*, 108(2), 507–511.
- Ferera, M., Baron, A. S., & Diesendruck, G. (2018). Collaborative and competitive motivations uniquely impact infants' racial categorization. *Evolution and Human Behavior*, 39(5), 511–519.
- Fink, E., & Hughes, C. (2019). Children's friendships. Psychologist, 32, 28–31.
- Fiske, A. P. (1991). Structures of social life: The four elementary forms of human relations: Communal sharing, authority ranking, equality matching, market pricing. New York: Free Press.
- Fivush, R. (1984). Learning about school: The development of kindergartners' school scripts. *Child Development*, 55(5), 1697–1709.
- Flanagan, C. A., Campbell, B., Botcheva, L., Bowes, J., Csapo, B., Macek, P., et al. (2003). Social class and adolescents' beliefs about justice in different social orders. *Journal of Social Issues*, 59(4), 711–732.
- Flanagan, C. A., Kim, T., Pykett, A., Finlay, A., Gallay, E. E., & Pancer, M. (2014). Adolescents' theories about economic inequality: Why are some people poor while others are rich? *Developmental Psychology*, 50(11), 2512–2525.
- Flavell, J. H. (1985). Cognitive development. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Fox, R., & McDaniel, C. (1982). The perception of biological motion by human infants. *Science*, 218(4571), 486–487.

- Furnham, A., & Stacey, B. (1991). *Adolescence and society. Young people's understanding of society.* Taylor & Frances/Routledge.
- Gelman, S. A. (2005). Psychological essentialism in everyday thought. *Psychological Science Agenda*, 19(5). Retrieved February 17, 2021, from http://www.apa.org/science/about/psa/2005/05/gelman.aspx.
- Gelman, S. A., & Heyman, G. D. (1999). Carrot-eaters and creature-believers: The effects of lexicalization on children's inferences about social categories. *Psychological Science*, 10(6), 489–493.
- Gelman, S. A., & Medin, D. L. (1993). What's so essential about essentialism? A different perspective on the interaction of perception, language, and conceptual knowledge. *Cognitive Development*, 8(2), 157–167.
- Gelman, S. A., & Roberts, S. O. (2017). Language and cultural inheritance of categories. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 114(30), 7900–7907.
- Gergely, G., & Csibra, G. (2003). Teleological reasoning in infancy: The naïve theory of rational action. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 7(7), 287–292.
- Goffman, E. (1959). The presentation of self in everyday life. New York: Doubleday.
- Gonzalez, A. M., Steele, J. R., & Baron, A. S. (2017). Reducing children's implicit racial bias through exposure to positive out-group exemplars. *Child Development*, 88, 123–130.
- Gopnik, A., & Meltzoff, A. N. (1994). Minds, bodies, and persons: Young children's understanding of the self and others as reflected in imitation and theory of mind research. In S. T. Parker, R. W. Mitchell, & M. L. Boccia (Eds.), *Self-awareness in animals and humans: Developmental perspectives* (pp. 166–186). Cambridge University Press.
- Gülgoz, S., & Gelman, S. A. (2017). Who's the boss? Concepts of social power across development. *Child Development*, 88(3), 946–963.
- Hamilton, D. L., Sherman, S. J., & Lickel, B. (1998). Perceiving social groups: The importance of the entitativity continuum. In C. Sedikides, J. Schopler, & C. A. Insko (Eds.), *Intergroup cognition and intergroup behavior* (pp. 47–74). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- Hamlin, J. K., Wynn, K., & Bloom, P. (2007). Social evaluation by preverbal infants. *Nature*, 450(7169), 557–559.
- Harris, P. L. (2012). Trusting what you're told: How children learn from others. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Harris, P. L., Koenig, M. A., Corriveau, K. H., & Jaswal, V. K. (2018). Cognitive foundations of learning from testimony. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 69, 251–273.
- Haslam, N. (2004). Relational models theory: A contemporary overview. Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Hatano, G., & Inagaki, K. (1984). Two courses of expertise. Research & Clinical Center for Child Development, 82–83, 27–36.
- Heider, F. (1958). The psychology of interpersonal relations. New York: Wiley.
- Hewstone, M. (1994). Revision and change of stereotypic beliefs: In search of the elusive subtyping model. In W. Stroebe, & M. Hewstone (Eds.), *Vol. 5. European review of social psychology* (pp. 69–109). Chichester, England: Wiley.
- Hirschfeld, L. A. (1996). Race in the making: Cognition, culture, and the child's construction of human kinds. The MIT Press.
- Hirschfeld, L. A. (1999). Naïve sociology. In R. A. Wilson, & F. C. Keil (Eds.), *The MIT encyclopedia of the cognitive sciences* (pp. 571–581). Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Hirschfeld, L. A. (2001). On a folk theory of society: Children, evolution, and mental representations of social groups. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 5(2), 107–117.
- Hirschfeld, L. A. (2013). The myth of mentalizing and the primacy of folk sociology. In M. R. Banaji, & S. A. Gelman (Eds.), Oxford series in social cognition and social neuroscience. Navigating the social world: What infants, children, and other species can teach us (pp. 101–106). Oxford University Press.

Hirschfeld, L. A., & Gelman, S. A. (1997). What young children think about the relationship between language variation and social difference. *Cognitive Development*, 12(2), 213–238.

- Hock, A., Kangas, A., Zieber, N., & Bhatt, R. S. (2015). The development of sex category representation in infancy: Matching of faces and bodies. *Developmental Psychology*, *51*(3), 346–352.
- Hogg, M. A. (2016). Social identity theory. In S. McKeown (Ed.), Vol. 18. Understanding peace and conflict through social identity theory (4th ed., pp. 3–17). Springer.
- Horwitz, S. R., Shutts, K., & Olson, K. R. (2014). Social class differences produce social group preferences. *Developmental Science*, 17(6), 991–1002.
- Hussak, L. J., & Cimpian, A. (2015). An early-emerging explanatory heuristic promotes support for the status quo. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 109(5), 739–752.
- Jin, K. S., & Baillargeon, R. (2017). Infants possess an abstract expectation of ingroup support. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 114(31), 8199–8204.
- Jordan, A. E., Brey, E. L., Kalish, C. W., & Shutts, K. (2015, October). Detecting social groups: How visual cues acquire social meaning [poster presentation]. In *Biennial meeting of the cognitive development society, Columbus, OH, United States*.
- Kalish, C. W. (2012). Generalizing norms and preferences within social categories and individuals. *Developmental Psychology*, 48(4), 1133–1143.
- Kalish, C. (2020). Personalizing the demands of reason. Behavioral and Brain Sciences, 43, 73.
- Kalish, C. W., & Lawson, C. A. (2008). Development of social category representations: Early appreciation of roles and deontic relations. *Child Development*, 79(3), 577–593.
- Kalish, C. W., & Thevenow-Harrison, J. (2014). Descriptive and inferential problems of induction: Toward a common framework. In B. Ross (Ed.), *Vol. 61. Psychology of learning and motivation* (pp. 1–39). Elsevier.
- Kanakogi, Y., Inoue, Y., Matsuda, G., Butler, D., Hiraki, K., & Myowa-Yamakoshi, M. (2017). Preverbal infants affirm third-party interventions that protect victims from aggressors. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 1(2), 1–7.
- Kang, S., & Inzlicht, M. (2012). Stigma building blocks: How instruction and experience teach children about rejection by outgroups. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 38(3), 357–369.
- Kaufmann, L., & Clement, F. (2014). Wired for society: Cognizing pathways to society and culture. *Topoi*, 33(2), 459–475.
- Keil, F. C., & Batterman, N. (1984). A characteristic-to-defining shift in the development of word meaning. *Journal of Verbal Learning and Verbal Behavior*, 23(2), 221–236.
- Kelley, H. H., & Michela, J. L. (1980). Attribution theory and research. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 31, 457–501.
- King, R., Scott, K. E., Renno, M. P., & Shutts, K. (2020). Counterstereotyping can change children's thinking about boys' and girls' toy preferences. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 191, 104753.
- Kinzler, K. D. (2020). How you say it: Why you talk the way you do—And what it says about you. Houghton Mifflin Harcourt.
- Kinzler, K. D., & Dautel, J. B. (2012). Children's essentialist reasoning about language and race. *Developmental Science*, 15(1), 131–138.
- Kinzler, K. D., Dupoux, E., & Spelke, E. S. (2007). The native language of social cognition. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 104, 12577–12580.
- Kinzler, K. D., Shutts, K., & Correll, J. (2010). Priorities in social categories. European Journal of Social Psychology: Special Issue: Children's Intergroup Attitudes, 40, 581–592.
- Kinzler, K. D., & Spelke, E. S. (2011). Do infants show social preferences for people differing in race? *Cognition*, 119(1), 1–9.
- Koenig, A. M. (2018). Comparing prescriptive and descriptive gender stereotypes about children, adults, and the elderly. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *9*, 1086.

- Kohlberg, L. (1966). A cognitive-developmental analysis of children's sex-role concepts and attitudes. In E. E. Maccoby (Ed.), *The development of sex differences* (pp. 82–173). Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.
- Kornbluh, M. E., Pykett, A. A., & Flanagan, C. A. (2019). Exploring the associations between youths' explanations of poverty at the societal level and judgements of distributive justice. *Developmental Psychology*, 55(3), 488–497.
- Kurzban, R., Tooby, J., & Cosmides, L. (2001). Can race be erased? Coalitional computation and social categorization. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 98(26), 15387–15392.
- LaTourrette, A., & Waxman, S. R. (2019). A little labeling goes a long way: Semi-supervised learning in infancy. *Developmental Science*, 22(1), e12736.
- Laupa, M., & Turiel, E. (1986). Children's conceptions of adult and peer authority. *Child Development*, 57(2), 405–412.
- Lawson, C. A., & Kalish, C. W. (2006). Inductive inferences across time and identity: Are category members more alike than single individuals? *Journal of Cognition and Development*, 7(2), 233–252.
- Lenton, A. P., Bruder, M., & Sedikides, C. (2009). A meta-analysis on the malleability of automatic gender stereotypes. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 33(2), 183–196.
- Leslie, S. J. (2008). Generics: Cognition and acquisition. Philosophical Review, 117(1), 1-47.
- Lewis, M. (1989). Cultural differences in children's knowledge of emotional scripts. In C. Saarni, & P. L. Harris (Eds.), *Children's understanding of emotions* (p. 350372). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Liben, L. S., Bigler, R. S., & Krogh, H. R. (2001). Pink and blue collar jobs: Children's judgments of job status and job aspirations in relation to sex of worker. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 79(4), 346–363.
- Liberman, Z., Kinzler, K. D., & Woodward, A. L. (2018). The early social significance of shared ritual actions. *Cognition*, 171, 42–51.
- Liberman, Z., Woodward, A. L., & Kinzler, K. D. (2017). Preverbal infants infer third-party social relationships based on language. *Cognitive Science*, 41(3), 622–634.
- Lickel, B., Hamilton, D. L., & Sherman, S. J. (2001). Elements of a lay theory of groups: Types of groups, relational styles, and the perception of group entitativity. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 5(2), 129–140.
- Lupyan, G. (2012). What do words do? Toward a theory of language-augmented thought. In B. H. Ross (Ed.), *Vol. 57. The psychology of learning and motivation* (pp. 255–297). San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Maccoby, E. E. (1998). The two sexes: Growing up apart, coming together. Cambridge, MA: Belknap Press.
- Mahajan, N., & Wynn, K. (2012). Origins of "us" versus "them": Prelinguistic infants prefer similar others. *Cognition*, 124(2), 227–233.
- Mahalingam, R. (2007). Essentialism, power, and the representation of social categories: A folk sociology perspective. *Human Development*, 50(6), 300–319.
- Martin, C. L., Fabes, R. A., Evans, S. M., & Wyman, H. (1999). Social cognition on the playground: Children's beliefs about playing with girls versus boys and their relations to sex-segregated play. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 16(6), 751–771.
- Martin, C. L., & Ruble, D. N. (2010). Patterns of gender development. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 61, 353–381.
- Mascaro, O., & Csibra, G. (2012). Infants represent dominance as a stable relation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 109(18), 6862–6867.
- Masten, C. L., Gillen-O'Neel, C., & Brown, C. S. (2010). Children's intergroup empathic processing: The roles of novel ingroup identification, situational distress, and social anxiety. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 106(2–3), 115–128.

Mayeza, E. (2018). "It's not right for boys to play with dolls": Young children constructing and policing gender during "free play" in a South African classroom. *Discourse: Studies in the Cultural Politics of Education*, 39(4), 590–602.

- McClelland, D. C. (1985). Human motivation. Glenview, IL: Scott Foresman.
- McCloskey, M. (1983). Naive theories of motion. In D. Gentner, & A. L. Stevens (Eds.), *Mental models* (pp. 299–324). Hillsdale, N.J: Erlbaum.
- Mead, G. H. (1934). Mind, self, and society: From the standpoint of a social behaviorist. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Miller, J. G. (1997). Taking culture into account in social cognitive development. *Psychology and Developing Societies*, *9*(1), 9–34.
- Montanero, M., & Lucero, M. (2011). Causal discourse and the teaching of history. How do teachers explain historical causality? *Instructional Science*, 39(2), 109–136.
- Nelson, K. (1981). Social cognition in a script framework. In J. H. Flavell, & L. Ross (Eds.), *Social cognitive development* (pp. 97–118). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Newheiser, A., Dunham, Y., Merrill, A., Hoosain, L., & Olson, K. R. (2014). Preference for high status predicts implicit outgroup bias among children from low-status groups. *Developmental Psychology*, 50(4), 1081–1090.
- Nisbett, R. (1970). *The social bond: An introduction to the study of society*. New York: Knopf. Nisbett, R. E., & Wilson, T. D. (1977). The halo effect: Evidence for unconscious alteration of judgments. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 35(4), 250–256.
- Noyes, A., Keil, F. C., & Dunham, Y. (2020). Institutional actors: Children's emerging beliefs about the causal structure of social roles. *Developmental Psychology*, 56(1), 70–80.
- Otten, S. (2016). The minimal group paradigm and its maximal impact in research on social categorization. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 11, 85–89.
- Over, H., Eggleston, A., Bell, J., & Dunham, Y. (2018). Young children seek out biased information about social groups. *Developmental Science*, 21(3), 12580.
- Parsons, T. (1951). The social system. England: Routledge.
- Parsons, T., & Bales, R. F. (Eds.). (1955). Family, socialization and interaction process. New York: Free Press.
- Patterson, M. M., & Bigler, R. S. (2006). Preschool children's attention to environmental messages about groups: Social categorization and the origins of intergroup bias. *Child Development*, 77(4), 847–860.
- Pietraszewski, D., & German, T. C. (2013). Coalitional psychology on the playground: Reasoning about indirect social consequences in preschoolers and adults. *Cognition*, 126(3), 352–363.
- Plötner, M., Over, H., Carpenter, M., & Tomasello, M. (2016). What is a group? Young children's perceptions of different types of groups and group entitativity. *PLoS One*, 11(3), 0152001.
- Poulin-Dubois, D., Serbin, L. A., Eichstedt, J. A., Sen, M. G., & Beissel, C. F. (2002). Men don't put on make-up: Toddlers' knowledge of the gender stereotyping of household activities. *Social Development*, 11(2), 166–181.
- Powell, L. J., & Spelke, E. S. (2013). Preverbal infants expect members of social groups to act alike. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 110(41), 3965–3972.
- Powell, L. J., & Spelke, E. S. (2018). Third-party preferences for imitators in preverbal infants. *Open Mind*, 2(2), 61–71.
- Premack, D., & Woodruff, G. (1978). Does the chimpanzee have a theory of mind? *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 1(4), 515–526.
- Pun, A., Birch, S. A. J., & Baron, A. S. (2016). Infants' understanding of social dominance. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 113(9), 2376–2381.

- Pun, A., Birch, S. A. J., & Baron, A. S. (2017). Foundations of reasoning about social dominance. *Child Development Perspectives*, 11(3), 155–160.
- Quinn, P. C. (2002). Category representation in young infants. Current Directions in Psychological Science, 11(2), 66–70.
- Quinn, P. C., Yahr, J., Kuhn, A., Slater, A. M., & Pascalis, O. (2002). Representation of the gender of human faces by infants: A preference for female. *Perception*, *31*(9), 1109–1121.
- Rakoczy, H., Warneken, F., & Tomasello, M. (2008). The sources of normativity: Young children's awareness of the normative structure of games. *Developmental Psychology*, 44(3), 875–881.
- Reynolds, K. J. (2017). Self-categorization theory. In B. S. Turner (Ed.), *The Wiley Blackwell encyclopedia of social theory* (2nd ed., pp. 1–4). John Wiley & Sons.
- Rhodes, M. (2012). Naïve theories of social groups. Child Development, 83(6), 1900-1916.
- Rhodes, M., & Baron, A. (2019). The development of social categorization. *Annual Review of Developmental Psychology*, 1(1), 359–386.
- Rhodes, M., & Brickman, D. (2011). The influence of competition on children's social categories. *Journal of Cognition and Development*, 12(2), 194–221.
- Rhodes, M., & Chalik, L. (2013). Social categories as markers of intrinsic interpersonal obligations. *Psychological Science*, 24(6), 999–1006.
- Rhodes, M., Leslie, S. J., & Tworek, C. M. (2012). Cultural transmission of social essentialism. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 109(34), 13526–13531.
- Rholes, W., & Ruble, D. (1984). Children's understanding of dispositional characteristics of others. *Child Development*, 55(2), 550–560.
- Richoz, A. R., Quinn, P. C., Hillairet de Boisferon, A., Berger, C., Loevenbruck, H., Lewkowicz, D. J., et al. (2017). Audio-visual perception of gender by infants emerges earlier for adult-directed speech. *PLoS One*, 12(1), 0169325.
- Richter, N., Over, H., & Dunham, Y. (2016). The effects of minimal group membership on young preschoolers' social preferences, estimates of similarity, and behavioral attribution. *Collabra*, 2(1), 1–8.
- Riggs, A. E. (2019). Social statistics: Children use statistical reasoning to guide their inferences about the scope of social behavior. *Developmental Psychology*, 55(1), 66–79.
- Riggs, A. E. (2020). Is or ought? Reactions to violations help children to distinguish norms and regularities. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 194, 104822.
- Riggs, A. E., & Kalish, C. (2016). Children's evaluations of rule violators. *Cognitive Development*, 40, 132–143.
- Riggs, A. E., Kalish, C. W., & Alibali, M. W. (2014). When you've seen one, have you seen them all? Children's memory for general and specific learning episodes. *Developmental Psychology*, 50(6), 1653–1659.
- Rizzo, M. T., & Killen, M. (2020). Children's evaluations of individually and structurally based inequalities: The role of status. *Developmental Psychology*, 56(12), 2223–2235.
- Roberts, S. O., Gelman, S. A., & Ho, A. K. (2017). So it is, so it shall be: Group regularities license children's prescriptive judgments. *Cognitive Science*, 41, 576–600.
- Rozenblit, L., & Keil, F. (2002). The misunderstood limits of folk science: An illusion of explanatory depth. *Cognitive Science*, 26(5), 521–562.
- Ruble, D. N., & Dweck, C. S. (1995). Self-perceptions, person conceptions, and their development. In N. Eisenberg (Ed.), *Vol. 15. Review of personality and social psychology, social development* (pp. 109–139). Sage Publications, Inc.
- Ruble, D. N., Martin, C. L., & Berenbaum, S. A. (2007). Gender development. In W. Damon, R. M. Lerner, & N. Eisenberg (Eds.), *Handbook of child psychology: Vol 3. Social, emotional, and personality development* (pp. 858–952). Hoboken: Wiley.
- Rutland, A., Killen, M., & Abrams, D. (2010). A new social-cognitive developmental perspective on prejudice: The interplay between morality and group identity. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *5*(3), 279–291.

Sabbagh, M. A., & Henderson, A. M. E. (2007). How an appreciation of conventionality shapes early word learning. *New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development*, 2007(115), 25–37.

- Sabbagh, M. A., & Shafman, D. (2009). How children block learning from ignorant speakers. *Cognition*, 112(3), 415–422.
- Samuelsson, J., & Wendell, J. (2017). "Because Christian was mean and killed innocent people!": Swedish primary school students' causal reasoning about the origins of the nation. *Education 3–13*, 45(5), 629–644.
- Saxe, R., & Kanwisher, N. (2003). People thinking about thinking people. The role of the temporo-parietal junction in "theory of mind". *NeuroImage*, 19(4), 1835–1842.
- Schmidt, M. F. H., Butler, L. P., Heinz, J., & Tomasello, M. (2016). Young children see a single action and infer a social norm: Promiscuous normativity in 3-year-olds. *Psychological Science*, 27(10), 1360–1370.
- Schmidt, M. F., Rakoczy, H., & Tomasello, M. (2012). Young children enforce social norms selectively depending on the violator's group affiliation. *Cognition*, 124(3), 325–333.
- Schultheiss, O. C. (2008). Implicit motives. In O. P. John, R. W. Robins, & L. A. Pervin (Eds.), *Handbook of personality: Theory and research* (pp. 603–633). The Guilford Press.
- Scott, K. E., Shutts, K., & Devine, P. G. (2020). Parents' expectations for and reactions to children's racial biases. *Child Development*, 91(3), 715–723.
- Segall, G., Birnbaum, D., Deeb, I., & Diesendruck, G. (2015). The intergenerational transmission of ethnic essentialism: How parents talk counts the most. *Developmental Science*, 18(4), 543–555.
- Seider, S., Clark, S., Graves, D., Kelly, L. L., Soutter, M., El-Amin, A., et al. (2019). Black and Latinx adolescents' developing beliefs about poverty and associations with their awareness of racism. *Developmental Psychology*, 55(3), 509–524.
- Shtulman, A., & Walker, C. M. (2020). Developing an understanding of science. *Annual Review of Developmental Psychology*, 2(1), 111–132.
- Shutts, K. (2015). Young children's preferences: Gender, race, and social status. *Child Development Perspectives*, 9(4), 262–266.
- Shutts, K., Kinzler, K. D., Katz, R. C., Tredoux, C., & Spelke, E. S. (2011). Race preferences in children: Insights from South Africa. *Developmental Science*, 14(6), 1283–1291.
- Shutts, K., Roben, C. K. P., & Spelke, E. S. (2013). Children's use of social categories in thinking about people and social relationships. *Journal of Cognition and Development*, 14(1), 35–62.
- Signorella, M. L., Bigler, R. S., & Liben, L. S. (1993). Developmental differences in children's gender schemata about others: A meta-analytic review. *Developmental Review*, 13(2), 147–183.
- Skinner, A. L., & Meltzoff, A. N. (2019). Childhood experiences and intergroup biases among children. *Social Issues and Policy Review*, 13(1), 211–240.
- Sloutsky, V. M. (2003). The role of similarity in the development of categorization. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 7(6), 246–251.
- Sloutsky, V. M. (2010). From perceptual categories to concepts: What develops? *Cognitive Science*, 34(7), 1244–1286.
- Smith, L. B., Jones, S. S., & Landau, B. (1996). Naming in young children: A dumb attentional mechanism? *Cognition*, 60(2), 143–171.
- Sparks, E., Schinkel, M. G., & Moore, C. (2017). Affiliation affects generosity in young children: The roles of minimal group membership and shared interests. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 159, 242–262.
- Spelke, E. S., Breinlinger, K., Macomber, J., & Jacobson, K. (1992). Origins of knowledge. *Psychological Review*, 99(4), 605–632.
- Sperber, D. (1997). Intuitive and reflective beliefs. Mind & Language, 12(1), 67-83.
- Springer, K. (2001). Perceptual boundedness and perceptual support in conceptual development. *Psychological Review*, 108(4), 691–708.

- Srinivasan, M., Kaplan, E., & Dahl, A. (2018). Reasoning about the scope of religious norms: Evidence from Hindu and Muslim children in India. *Child Development*, 90(6), 783–802.
- Stavans, M., & Baillargeon, R. (2019). Infants expect leaders to right wrongs. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 116(33), 16292–16301.
- Sullivan, J., Moss-Racusin, C., Lopez, M., & Williams, K. (2018). Backlash against gender stereotype-violating preschool children. *PLoS One*, 13(4), 0195503.
- Svirydzenka, N., Sani, F., & Bennett, M. (2010). Group entitativity and its perceptual antecedents in varieties of groups: A developmental perspective. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 40(4), 611–624.
- Tajfel, H. (1970). Experiments in intergroup discrimination. *Scientific American*, 223(5), 96–102.
- Thomas, A. J., & Sarnecka, B. W. (2019). Infants choose those who defer in conflicts. *Current Biology*, 29(13), 2183–2189.
- Thomsen, L., Frankenhuis, W. E., Ingold-Smith, M., & Carey, S. (2011). Big and mighty: Preverbal infants mentally represent social dominance. *Science*, *331*(6016), 477–480.
- Thomsen, L., Thomas, A., Sarnecka, B., Lukowski, A., & Abrayam, M. (2018). Toddlers prefer those who win but not when they win by force. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 2(9), 662–669.
- Tomasello, M. (2010). Origins of human communication. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Tomasello, M. (2020a). The moral psychology of obligation. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 43, 56.
- Tomasello, M. (2020b). The adaptive origins of uniquely human sociality. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B*, 375(1803), 20190493.
- Tomasello, M. (2020c). The role of roles in uniquely human cognition and sociality. *Journal for the Theory of Social Behaviour*, 50(1), 2–19.
- Turiel, E. (1989). Domain-specific social judgments and domain ambiguities. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 35(1), 89–114.
- Vasilyeva, N., Gopnik, A., & Lombrozo, T. (2018). The development of structural thinking about social categories. *Developmental Psychology*, 54(9), 1735–1744.
- Waxman, S. R. (2010). Names will never hurt me? Naming and the development of racial and gender categories in preschool-aged children. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 40(4), 593–610.
- Waxman, S. R., & Markow, D. B. (1995). Words as invitations to form categories: Evidence from 12- to 13-month-old infants. *Cognitive Psychology*, 29(3), 257–302.
- Weisman, K., Johnson, M. V., & Shutts, K. (2015). Young children's automatic encoding of social categories. *Developmental Science*, 18(6), 1036–1043.
- Wellman, H. M. (1990). The child's theory of mind. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Wellman, H. M., & Gelman, S. A. (1992). Cognitive development: Foundational theories of core domains. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 43, 337–375.
- Wimmer, H., & Perner, J. (1983). Beliefs about beliefs: Representation and constraining function of wrong beliefs in young children's understanding of deception. *Cognition*, 13(1), 103–128.
- Woodward, A. L. (1998). Infants selectively encode the goal object of an actor's reach. *Cognition*, 69(1), 1–34.
- Yang, X., & Dunham, Y. (2019). Minimal but meaningful: Probing the limits of randomly assigned social identities. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, 185, 19–34.
- Yau, J., Smetana, J. G., & Metzger, A. (2009). Young Chinese children's authority concepts. *Social Development*, 18(1), 210–229.
- Ziv, T., Whiteman, J. D., & Sommerville, J. A. (2021). Toddlers' interventions toward fair and unfair individuals. *Cognition*, 214, 104781.